RECEIVED, 4/15/2013 08:53:33, Thomas D. Hall, Clerk, Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC12 - 2271

JAMES DANIEL TURNER,

Appellant

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ST. JOHNS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA Lower Tribunal No. 2005-001954CF

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

RAHEELA AHMED Florida Bar No. 0713457 MARIA CHRISTINE PERINETTI Florida Bar No. 0013837 Assistant CCRC Law Office of the Capitol Collateral Regional Counsel- Middle Region 3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210, Tampa, FL 33619 (813) 740-3544 ahmed@ccmr.state.fl.us

Counsels for the Appellant James Daniel Turner.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal of a final order by the Circuit Court of the Seventh Judicial Circuit, in and for St. Johns County denying relief to the Appellant, James Daniel Turner (hereinafter referred to as "Mr. Turner"), upon his Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence of Death Pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851. The record on appeal for the trial proceedings consists of twenty five [25] volumes, one [1] volume of exhibits to the record on appeal, and five [5] volumes of the supplements to the record on appeal. The record on appeal for the post-conviction proceedings consists of nineteen [19] volumes. The record on appeal for the trial proceedings will be referred to as "(ROA)" followed by the appropriate volume number and then page number(s). The post-conviction record on appeal will be referred to as "(PCROA)" followed by the appropriate volume number and then page number(s). All other references will be self-explanatory or otherwise explained.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Turner is incarcerated at Union Correctional Institution in Raiford, Florida, under a sentence of death. The resolution of these appellate issues will determine whether Mr. Turner lives or dies. This Court has allowed oral argument in other capital cases. A full opportunity to air the issues would be appropriate given the seriousness of the claims involved and the fact that a life is at stake. Mr. Turner accordingly requests that this Honorable Court permit oral argument.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(A) Statement of the case pertaining to the trial proceedings.

(I) **Procedural history of the Trial Proceedings**

A grand jury returned an indictment for Mr. Turner on October 19, 2005, for one [1] count of First Degree Murder in violation of Fla.Stat. §782.04(1)(a)1 of Renee Boling Howard, one [1] count of Attempted First Degree Murder in violation of Fla.Stat. 777.04 and Fla.Stat. 782.04(1)(a)(1) of Stacia Raybon, one [1] count of Grand Theft of a motor vehicle in violation of Fla.Stat. 812.014(1)(2)(c), one [1] count of Home Invasion Robbery with Deadly Weapon in violation of Fla.Stat. 812.135(2)(a), and one [1] count of Aggravated Assault on a Police Officer in violation of Fla.Stat. 784.07(2)(c). (ROA Vol.17, p.34-35). Thereafter, Mr. Turner was tried before the Circuit Court of the Seventh Judicial Circuit in and for St. Johns County. Mr. Turner was represented by Attorneys Valli Braswell Sottile (previously known as Valli B. Quetti) and James R. Valerino of the Office of the Public Defender for the Seventh Judicial Circuit in and for St. Johns County (hereinafter referred to separately as "trial counsel Sottile" and "trial counsel Valerino" and referred to collectively as "trial counsel"). (ROA Vol.17, p.28-31). The State of Florida was represented by Assistant State Attorneys Christopher A. France and Angela B. Corey (hereinafter referred to as "the prosecution").

On or about July 25, 2007, the jury retired to deliberate at the conclusion of the presentation of the evidence in the first jury trial in this case. (ROA Vol. 3, p.473). While the jury was deliberating, one of the jurors, Mr. Gard, suffered a seizure and had to be taken to the hospital. (ROA Vol. 3, p.511). At the time of the seizure, the jury had decided four [4] of the five [5] counts and two [2] alternate jurors were sequestered. (ROA Vol. 3, p.526-527). The trial court relying on Williams v. State, 792 So.2d 1207 (Fla. 2001), noted that a new trial had been ordered when a trial court substituted an alternate juror after the deliberations had begun. (ROA Vol. 3, p.532-533). The trial court advised Mr. Turner that he could opt to waive and have an alternate seated to replace Mr. Gard and continue deliberations or not do so. (ROA Vol. 3, p.535). Trial counsels requested a brief recess to speak with Mr. Turner privately and returned to advise the trial court that a mistrial was still being requested. (ROA Vol. 3, p.535). The prosecution did not object. (ROA Vol. 3, p.53-536). Thereby, the trial court declared a mistrial, released the jury and the parties agreed to seal the verdicts. (ROA Vol.3, p.537-544).

On November 19, 2007, prior to jury selection for the second trial, Mr. Turner filed a motion to dismiss the charges and alleging a violation of Double Jeopardy Clauses of both the Florida and United States Constitutions. (ROA Vol.3, p.434-436). Mr. Turner argued that he was in a position where he had to waive his request for mistrial or have an alternate juror seated when agreement had been reached by the sworn panel on four [4] of the five [5] counts. (ROA Vol.14, p.284-287). Mr. Turner acknowledged requesting the mistrial but asked the trial court to treat the matter as if the mistrial had been declared over Mr. Turner's objection and to apply the standard of manifest necessity. (ROA Vol.14, p.278 & p.283-284). Trial counsel argued that the mistrial request was based upon inaccurate information due to reliance on the *Williams* case and action postponed until a determination made the following day as to whether Juror Gard could continue deliberating. (ROA Vol.14, p.278-284). The trial court noted that trial counsel had not suggested this course previously and that no double jeopardy violation had previously been asserted. (ROA Vol.14, p.291-294).

The voir dire proceedings for the second trial were conducted from November 25, 2007, to November 27, 2007. (ROA Vol.12, p.1-126; Vol.13. p.127-265; Vol.14, p.305-417; & Vol.15, p.424-572). The guilt phase proceedings of the trial were conducted from November 28, 2007, to November 29, 2007. (ROA Vol.16, p.611-786; Vol.17, p.790-954; Vol.18, p.959-3134; & Vol.19, p.1138-1274). On November 29, 2007, Mr. Turner was found guilty of all five [5] counts as charged in the indictment. (ROA Vol.179, pp.1267-1268) Thereafter, the penalty phase of the trial proceedings was conducted from December 4, 2007 to December 5, 2007. (ROA Vol.20, p.4-105; Vol.21, p.109-217; Vol.22, p.221-262 & Vol.23, p.266-430). On December 5, 2007, the jury recommended a death sentence by a majority vote of ten [10] to two [2]. (ROA Vol.23, p.421-422). Thereafter, the trial court conducted a *Spencer* hearing on March 5, 2008. (ROA Vol.24, p.1-82).

The trial court filed a written Sentencing Order that was also orally pronounced at the sentencing hearing on or about April 24, 2008. (ROA Vol.5, p.830-854). In its Sentencing Order, the trial court found the following statutory aggravators and assigned the following weights:

(1) Florida Statutes, Section 921.141(5)(a): The capital felony was committed by a person previously convicted of a felony and under sentence of imprisonment – moderate weight;

(2) Florida Statutes, Section 921.141(5)(d): The capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of, or an attempt to commit attempted first degree murder and aggravated assault on a law enforcement officer - great weight;

(3) Florida Statutes, Section 921.141(5)(d): The capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of a robbery merged with pecuniary gain 921.141(5)(f) – great weight;

(4) Florida Statutes, Section 921.141(5)(h): The capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel (HAC) - great weight; and

(5) Florida Statutes, Section 921.141(5)(i): The capital felony was a homicide and was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification (CCP) - significant weight.

(ROA Vol.5, p.823-843). The trial court further found statutory mitigating

circumstances and assigned the following weights:

(1) Florida Statutes, Section 921.141(6)(b): The Defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance - moderate weight and

(2) Florida Statutes, Section 921.141(6)(f): The capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired - moderate weight.

(ROA Vol.5, p.844-846). The trial court also found the following non-statutory

mitigators and assigned the following weights:

(1) Chronic alcohol and drug problem - moderate weight,

(2) Loving and caring brother - some weight,

(3) Loving and caring step-father - some weight,

(4) Loving and caring husband - some weight,

(5) Uncles gave Mr. Turner drugs and alcohol at an early age - **some weight**,

(6) Cognitive development impaired due to alcohol and drug use - **some weight**,

(7) Murder was committed while Defendant was under the influence of crack cocaine - **some weight**,

(8) Appropriate courtroom behavior - some weight,

(9) Abandonment by mother - little weight,

(10) Verbally abused by mother - little weight,

(11) Physically abused by father- little weight,

(12) Hard worker and skilled carpenter - little weight, and

(13) Good trustee at out of state jail until he absconded - slight weight.

(ROA Vol.5, pp.845-852).

On April 24, 2008, the trial court entered a judgment and sentence that

sentenced Mr. Turner to death as to count one [1] of the indictment. (ROA Vol. 5, p.819 & p.821). Mr. Turner was also sentenced to a term of thirty [30] years imprisonment for the attempted murder of Stacia Raybon, five [5] years for the grand theft, life imprisonment for the home invasion robbery with a deadly weapon, and fifteen [15] years for the aggravated assault on Deputy Harris. (ROA Vol.5, p.819 & p.822-827). This is the judgment and sentence by the trial court that is under attack pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.851(e)(a)(A). (ROA Vol. 5, p.819-827).

(B) Statement of the case pertaining to the direct appeal proceedings

Mr. Turner timely filed a notice of appeal on April 6, 2009, to the Supreme Court of Florida. The issues raised by Mr. Turner in his direct appeal are as follows:

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT COMMITTED THE MURDER IN A COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED [MANNER].
- II. THE DEATH SENTENCE IS DISPROPORTIONATE WHEN COMPARED WITH SIMILAR CASES WHERE THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES ARE FEW AND THE MITIGATION, ESPECIALLY THE MENTAL MITIGATION, IS SUBSTANTIAL.
- III. THE APPELLANT'S RETRIAL VIOLATED THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAUSE OF THE UNITED STATES AND FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.
- IV. FLORIDA'S DEATH SENTENCING SCHEME IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE SIXTH

AMENDMENT PURSUANT TO RING V. ARIZONA.

The Supreme Court of Florida denied all of the above claims on September 24, 2009. *See State v. Turner*, 37 So.3d 212 (Fla. 2010). Thereafter, Mr. Turner filed a petition for writ of certiorari to the Supreme Court of the United States on August 20, 2010, which was denied on October 18, 2010. *See Turner v. Florida*, 131 S.Ct. 426, 178 L.Ed.2d 332 (2010).

(C) Statement of the case pertaining to the post-conviction proceedings

The Law Office of the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel for the Middle Region of Florida was appointed by the Supreme Court of Florida to represent Mr. Turner in his post-conviction proceedings in an order dated June 10, 2010. Mr. Turner filed his Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence of Death Pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851, on October 12, 2011, putting forth ten [10] grounds. (PCROA Vol.2, p.184-245). The State filed a Response on November 28, 2011. (PCROA Vol.2, p.246-292). The post-conviction court conducted a case management conference on February 29, 2012. (PCROA Vol.16, p.1-33). After the case management conference, the post-conviction court issued a written order dated March 23, 2012, summarily denying grounds one [1], two [2], four [4], five [5], six [6], seven [7], nine [9], and ten [10]. (PCROA Vol.5, p.662-671). The post-conviction court scheduled ground three [3] for an evidentiary hearing and deferred ruling on ground eight [8]. (PCROA Vol.5,

p.669-670).

The evidentiary was conducted from May 8, 2012, to May 9, 2012. (PCROA Vol.17, p.1-195 & Vol.18, p.196-269). After the evidentiary hearing, written closing arguments were filed by Mr. Turner and the State of Florida. (PCROA Vol.7, P.1036-1173). The post-conviction court issued a written final order denying relief on all grounds. (PCROA Vol.7, p.1138-1173; Vol.8, p.1174-1373; & Vol.9, p.1374-1436). Mr. Turner filed his Notice of Appeal on October 31, 2012, appealing this final order and this appeal follows. (PCROA Vol.9, p.1439-1491).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

(A) <u>Statement of the facts of the trial proceedings</u>

The facts presented at the guilt phase proceedings were summarized by this

Court in its direct appeal opinion and are as follows:

The record reflects that Turner had been sentenced to jail in Newberry County, South Carolina, for a violation of probation stemming from a felony battery charge. While incarcerated at that location he was primarily assigned to perform various duties at the local sheriff's office and was given special privileges because he was considered trustworthy. His position provided him unrestricted access to most of the sheriff's office, including the keys to vehicles parked adjacent to the office. Despite being scheduled to be released from the facility at the end of 2005, on September 28, 2005, Turner escaped from the Newberry County Jail in a stolen Newberry County Office Sports Utility Vehicle (SUV). The SUV was discovered by local employees in the parking lot of a business located in St. Johns County, Florida the next day. Local law enforcement officials found Turner's identification card and multiple rocks of crack cocaine in the stolen vehicle.

On September 30, 2005, two hotel guests saw Turner lurking around

the Comfort Inn located in St. Augustine. At approximately 9:30 a.m., one of the housekeepers employed at the Comfort Inn observed Turner obtaining ice. Another housekeeper also saw Turner that morning and said "good morning" to him, to which he responded "good morning." Later that morning, Turner approached one of the housekeepers and asked her for a towel. A third housekeeper also encountered Turner about an hour before the subject murder and greeted him, but he did not respond.

That morning, Renee Howard, her four children ages eighteen, fourteen. two, and ten months, Howard's eight-month-old granddaughter, and Stacia Raybon occupied room 210 of the motel, which was located on the second floor. Raybon testified that early that morning on the way to obtain breakfast, the defendant passed them, "almost pushing [them] off the sidewalk." Shortly thereafter, Howard drove her son to work and daughter to school, taking two of the other three children with her in a champagne colored Ford F-150 pick-up truck. Howard returned to the motel and Raybon was on the way downstairs to assist Howard in gathering the children when she noticed Turner outside room 210. Howard, Raybon, and the three remaining children returned to the room to prepare to check out of the motel

The record reflects that while preparing bottles at the rear of the room for the children, Raybon saw a flash of light hit the mirror as the door of the room suddenly opened. She then saw Turner go toward Howard. Turner appeared to strike Howard in the midsection and then turned and proceeded to attack Raybon. Raybon crouched on the floor in the rear of the room and buried her face in her hands. Turner pulled Raybon up by the arm and stabbed her in the elbow. Immediately after stabbing Raybon, Turner noticed Howard move back toward the entry door of the room and Turner turned and directed his attention to her for the second time. Turner's movement afforded Raybon time to grab her purse, rush into the bathroom, and lock herself inside.

While in the bathroom, Raybon heard "loud hitting noises" in the room and the children screaming. Raybon then heard water running in the sink, which was located immediately outside the bathroom door. Turner attempted to force his way into the bathroom, and after he failed multiple times, Raybon asked Turner to release one of the children to her. Turner demanded money, and, after searching her purse, Raybon slid \$5 and several credit cards under the bathroom door. Turner slid the \$5 back under the door to her and told Raybon to keep it. Turner then brought one of the children to the bathroom door and allowed the child to enter the area occupied by Raybon. After Raybon pleaded for Turner to leave her and the children alone, Turner ordered Raybon to wait ten minutes before exiting the room. Approximately one minute later Raybon heard the entry door of the room close. When Raybon finally exited the bathroom, she discovered Howard's motionless body on the floor.

After Turner left, Raybon tried to call 911 from the hotel room but was unable to connect. She then ran out of the room, screaming for help, and encountered one of the housekeepers, who gave her use of a cell phone. Shortly thereafter, the police arrived and Raybon provided a description of both Turner and Howard's truck, which was missing after the attack. The police secured the area and initially believed that one of the children was missing. However, after conducting a thorough search of the room, the missing child was located under blankets in the rear of the room.

The St. Johns County Sheriff's Office issued a "be on the lookout" for Howard's truck, warning officers that there might be a three-year-old child in the vehicle with a dangerous person. Approximately five miles away from the Comfort Inn, Deputy Graham T. Harris, driving a marked police car, spotted the truck. Deputy Harris eventually caught up to the vehicle and activated his overhead lights. Deputy Harris testified, "Next thing I see when I pull over to the side, I see the reverse lights coming straight at my patrol car, boom, hit it, rear-end hit my front end, eventually knocked out my siren." The truck then moved in a forward direction, pulled away from the police car, and proceeded to move full speed at the driver side of the police vehicle. Deputy Harris accelerated to escape the collision, and then the truck accelerated behind the patrol car as if to ram the patrol car from behind. Deputy Harris drove away from the scene with the truck in pursuit. Eventually, after numerous attempts at ramming the patrol car, the truck collided with a guard rail and came to a complete stop. Turner exited the truck, looked at Deputy Harris, and then jumped off the Deep Creek Bridge into the creek below.

Subsequent to this roadway altercation, multiple deputies arrived at the Deep Creek Bridge. With canine assistance, Turner was located in the creek below. The deputies issued numerous commands for Turner to surrender, none of which were obeyed. After the canine was ordered to attack Turner, and Turner attempted to drown the animal, he eventually surrendered to the authorities. During the standoff and eventual arrest, Turner was heard saying, "I did not do it," "Shoot me, just shoot me," "I didn't do it, the other guy did," and he continuously identified himself as "Ricky." Stacia Raybon's two credit cards were found in Turner's possession when he was arrested.

Turner v. State, 37 So.3d 212, 215-217 (Fla. 2010)

The facts presented at the penalty phase proceedings were also summarized

by this Court in its direct appeal opinion and are as follows:

The State presented three witnesses during the penalty phase. The pathologist testified that a cut he found on Howard's hand was a defensive wound. He was also of the opinion that Howard was alive when the stab wounds were inflicted, and he opined that a few of the wounds "should have caused some pain." The State also presented victim impact statements from the victim's grandmother and oldest son. Finally, copies of a judgment and sentence from Larens County, South Carolina, to establish that Turner was under a sentence of imprisonment at the time of the incident were placed in evidence.

The defense presented multiple witnesses during the penalty phase. Two of Turner's stepdaughters testified that he was a good stepfather. The grandmother of his stepchildren corroborated that he was a good stepfather. Turner's brother testified that the defendant began drinking with his uncles at a very young age and also helped them deal drugs.

The defense presented expert testimony with regard to the effect of crack cocaine use on the brain. An expert testified that Turner entered a drug rehabilitation facility in 1994 and, while undergoing treatment, attempted to commit suicide. During cross-examination, the expert admitted that Turner's cocaine use influenced his actions on the day of the murder, but did not necessarily cause those actions. He further was of the view that at the time of the murder, assuming Turner had gone at least twelve hours without crack cocaine, he would have been either depressed and subdued or anxious and hypervigilant.

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