TGEGKXGF. '814214235''323: 54. "Vj qo cu'F 0J cm'Engtm''Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES DANIEL TURNER,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC12-2271

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ST. JOHNS COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 998818

Office of the Attorney General 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 500 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 Primary E-Mail: ken.nunnelley@myfloridalegal.com Secondary E-Mail: CapApp@MyFloridaLegal.com (386)238-4990 (386)226-0457 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

(V7, R1165-67). Those findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, and should not be disturbed.

To the extent that Turner says that other experts should have been hired, the record shows, and the trial court found, that other experts were in fact consulted but not used at trial because their opinions would not help the defense case. (V7, R1168). The trial court said:

Dr. Krop testified as an expert witness for the defense at the Spencer hearing. Dr. Krop testified that he performed a battery of neuropsychological tests focusing on frontal lobe issues. See Spencer Hearing Transcript, pp. 46-47, attached hereto as Appendix E. He also reviewed school and medical records, transcripts of prior court proceedings, police reports and other various documents. Id. at 45-47, 50-51, Dr. Krop testified that Defendant has frontal lobe impairment, and that use of drugs and/or alcohol exacerbates the problems of a person with frontal lobe impairment. Id. at 48-51.

In addition to the expert testimony elicited at the penalty phase, the judge and the jury also heard lay witness testimony at the penalty phase that is relevant to Defendant's current postconviction claim. Defendant's cousin, Marie Hendrix, provided testimony about Defendant being physically and verbally abused by his parents and about Defendant's mother stealing from him. See Appendix C, pp. 80-81, 93-94. Further, the mitigation specialist, Dr. Scott, testified at the Spencer hearing and provided details about Defendant's background as well as testimony about the lack of cooperation by Defendant's family members. See Appendix E, pp. 5-40.

Based on the extensive mental health testimony elicited from Dr. Bloomfield, the testimonv of Defendant's family members, and the argument of defense counsel at the penalty phase, the Court finds that the Defendant was not deprived of a reliable penalty phase proceeding, and Defense Counsel acted reasonably under prevailing professional standards in presenting mitigating evidence during the penalty phase. Further, the Court finds that Defendant's trial counsel sought the help of other experts, but made sound strategic decisions not to call these experts due to the negative impact their testimony might have on the Defendant. Additionally, though the testimony of Scott and Dr. Krop presented at the Dr. Spencer hearing did not have an impact on the jury's recommendation, such testimony was relevant to the Defendant's final sentence because it was a factor in the Court's sentencing determination, and is therefore relevant to Defendant's claim challenging his death sentence. Despite the sufficiency of the evidence elicited at the penalty phase, the Court will address

the testimony and evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing to show further why Defendant's claims of deficient performance and prejudice do not warrant relief.

(V7, R1168-70).

With respect to the "new" (and presumably "better") mental state diagnoses, the circuit court rejected that testimony, saying:

Even if trial counsel should have conducted further investigation into Defendant's background to include some of the information Dr. Eisenstein provided through testimony at the evidentiary hearing, Defendant has failed to demonstrate that absent such errors, there is a reasonably probability that the outcome of the proceeding would have been different or that the jury would have found that the balance of the aggravating and mitigating circumstances did not warrant death. Dr. Eisenstein diagnosed Defendant with Attention Hyperactive Disorder, Deficit Predominantly Hyperactive-Impulsive Type and Bipolar I Disorder. However, had this testimony been presented at the penalty phase, it could have been undermined by the clear and concise testimony of Dr. Danziger, as it was the evidentiary hearing. While Dr. Eisenstein at provided several facts about Defendant's history in relation to how he came to these diagnoses, Dr. did any clear Eisenstein not provide testimony relevant to the criteria necessary to diagnose such disorders.

The only testimony from Dr. Eisenstein relative to the criteria necessary for a diagnosis of Bipolar I Disorder was that "it only can occur on one occasion, occasions". This testimony is more confusing, especially in comparison to the clear testimony of Dr. Danziger regarding the requirements for a diagnosis of Bipolar I Disorder and the definition of a manic episode. Dr. Danziger testified that Defendant has not had any manic symptoms during the time he has been incarcerated and it is his belief that any past maniclike symptoms were almost certainly the result of intoxication and dependence upon stimulant medications. Dr. Danziger testified that the symptoms

of Bipolar I Disorder cannot be due to a medical condition or to substances.

Regarding ADHD, while Dr. Danziger testified that this might be a possible diagnosis, he again undermined Dr. Eisenstein's diagnosis because there was no mention in Dr. Eisenstein's report that symptoms were present before the age of seven, which is one of the criteria for ADHD, Regardless, Dr. Eisenstein failed demonstrate how Defendant's mental state as caused by his ADHD played any part in his committing the crimes that occurred on September 30, 2005. Further, Dr. Danziger testified that ADHD had very little to do with Defendant's behavior on September 30, 2005. Based on Dr. Danziger's clear testimony that any manic like symptoms were substance-induced and not a primary mental illness, e.g. Bipolar I Disorder, and the lack of evidence regarding how ADHD affected Defendant's mental state on September 30, 2005, there is not a reasonable probability that the outcome of the proceedings would have been different if the defense had conducted further investigation into Defendant's background because the information available would not have warranted a diagnosis of Bipolar I Disorder or ADHD.

As to Dr. Eisenstein's Axis II diagnosis of Borderline Personality Disorder, the Court again finds that testimony regarding a diagnosis of Borderline Personality Disorder could have been undermined had it been presented at the penalty phase. Dr. Danziger testified that if Defendant truly has Borderline Personality Disorder, the behaviors which formed Dr. Eisenstein's diagnosis of such disorder would have the Defendant's during continued incarceration. However, these behaviors have not continued and Dr. Danziger opined that it is because such behaviors were substance-induced rather than being the symptoms of a mental illness. Additionally, the Court finds it important to note that Defendant's own brother, Jeffrey Turner, testified at the evidentiary hearing that Defendant's demonstrations of anger occurred while Defendant was drinking and Jeffrey Turner never observed Defendant demonstrate anger while he was not drinking. This testimony gives credence to Dr. Danziger's expert opinion that the symptoms Defendant exhibited were substance-induced and not the result of a mental illness. Accordingly, the Court finds there

is not a reasonable probability that the outcome of the proceedings would have been different if the defense had conducted further investigation into defendant's background because the information available would not have warranted a diagnosis of Borderline Personality Disorder.

In conclusion, the Court notes that though Defendant was able to find a more favorable report at the postconviction stage of the proceeding, such report does not mean that Defendant's trial counsel was deficient in their performance in representing Defendant at trial. *Davis*, 875 So. 2d at 372.

(V7, R1171-73). Those findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, are legally correct, and should be affirmed in all respects.

### II. THE CLAIMS RAISED FOR "PRESERVATION" PURPOSES

On pages 78-83 of his brief, Turner raises various claims that are purely legal claims, in a nominal attempt to "preserve" those claims for later review. The law supports the denial of each of these claims for relief. *See*, *Diaz v. Dugger*, 719 So. 2d 865, 868 (Fla. 1998).

Claim 5 from the post-conviction relief motion is set out on pages 78-79 of Turner's brief. The circuit court denied relief on this claim, citing to prior decisions of this Court on the identical issue. (V5, R666). That result is correct, but the circuit court did not need to go that far. **This claim**, which is based solely on *Caldwell v. Mississippi*, 472 U.S. 320 (1985), **is procedurally barred** because the issue was not raised on direct appeal. *See Stewart v. State*, 37 So. 3d 243, 263 (Fla. 2010);

Grim v. State, 971 So. 2d 85, 103 (Fla. 2007). In any event, this Court has repeatedly held that Florida's standard jury instructions do not violate Caldwell. See, e.g., Stewart, supra; Lebron v. State, 982 So. 2d 649, 666 (Fla. 2008); Perez v. State, 919 So. 2d 347, 368 (Fla.2005); Globe v. State, 877 So. 2d 663, 674 (Fla.2004); Thomas v. State, 838 So. 2d 535, 542 (Fla.2003); Brown v. State, 721 So. 2d 274, 283 (Fla.1998). This Court should affirm the denial of relief on procedural bar grounds in order to insure that this Court's procedural rules, and rulings, are afforded the deference and respect to which they are entitled.

With respect to Claim 6, the circuit court denied relief on procedural bar grounds because the claims contained therein could have been, but were not, raised on direct appeal. (V5, R666-68). Each of these claims is procedurally barred for failure to raise them on direct appeal. See Troy v. State, 57 So. 3d 828, 843 (Fla. 2011); Evans v. State, 946 So. 2d 1, 15-16 (Fla. 2006). The circuit court addressed the merits of the claim that the **jury instruction** on the coldness aggravator is "unconstitutional" -- it should have denied that claim on procedural bar grounds because the direct appeal claim said nothing about the jury instruction, but rather focused solely on applicability vel non of the coldness the aggravator. Regardless, the circuit court reached the correct result.

The only constitutional claim regarding the death penalty statute Turner raised on direct appeal was based on *Ring v*. *Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S.Ct. 2428, 153 L.Ed.2d 556 (2002). This Court held:

Turner correctly acknowledges that this Court has consistently rejected the position that section 921.141, Florida Statutes (2005), is unconstitutional under the Sixth Amendment. See generally Marshall v. Crosby, 911 So. 2d 1129, 1134 n. 5 (Fla. 2005) (listing over fifty cases since Ring's release where this Court has rejected similar Ring claims). Further, Ring does not apply to these facts because the "during-a-felony" and "prior violent felony" aggravating factors are present here. See, e.g., Walker v. State, 957 So. 2d 560, 576 (Fla. 2007) ("Ring does not apply to the facts of this case because the 'course of a felony' aggravator based on Walker's conviction of kidnapping, resting on a unanimous guilt-phase verdict, is present."). Turner has not established any basis on which this Court should reconsider the established points of law with regard to Florida's capital sentencing scheme. Accordingly, we deny relief on this issue.

Turner v. State, 37 So. 3d 212, 229 (Fla. 2010).

In addition to the procedural bar as to each non-*Ring* claim, each of the claims raised by Turner has no merit. In *Proffit v. Florida*, 428 U.S. 242 (1976), the United States Supreme Court specifically upheld the aggravating circumstance that the murder was "especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel" on the express ground that a narrowing construction had been adopted by that Florida Supreme Court. *Proffitt*, 428 U.S. at 255.

The claim that execution by electrocution and lethal injection constitute cruel and unusual punishment is

procedurally barred. Troy, supra; Evans, supra. Further, this claim has been repeatedly rejected. See, e.g., Valle v. State, 70 So. 3d 530, 537 (Fla. 2011); Wyatt v. State, 71 So. 3d 86, 112 (Fla. 2011); Tompkins v. State, 994 So. 2d 1072, 1080-82 (Fla. 2008) (upholding the constitutionality of Florida's capital-sentencing scheme and lethal-injection protocol); Suggs v. State, 923 So. 2d 419, 441 (Fla. 2005) (denying defendant's claim that Florida's capital sentencing scheme violates due process and constitutes cruel and unusual punishment on its face and as applied because the United States Supreme Court has repeatedly reviewed and upheld Florida's death penalty statute).

Turner's claim that Florida's death penalty statute does not sufficiently define aggravating circumstances is facially insufficient because it does not identify any aggravating circumstance which is subject to challenge -- that pleading deficiency is a procedural bar to consideration of this claim. Florida's death penalty statute is applied in a vague and inconsistent manner. This and other claims were rejected in *Troy v. State*, 57 So. 3d 828, 844 (Fla. 2011), *citing Miller v. State*, 926 So. 2d 1243, 1260 (Fla. 2006) (rejecting as meritless a claim that aggravators have been applied in a vague and inconsistent manner); *Elledge v. State*, 911 So. 2d 57, 79 n. 28 (Fla. 2005) (rejecting claim that the death penalty statute fails to provide a standard for determining that aggravators

outweigh mitigators, does not define "sufficient aggravating circumstances," and does not sufficiently define each of the aggravators); Sochor v. State/Crosby, 883 So. 2d 766, 789 (holding that defendant's claim that execution by electrocution or lethal injection constitutes cruel and unusual punishment is meritless); Fotopoulos v. State, 608 So. 2d 784, 794 n. 7 (Fla. 1992) (rejecting as meritless a claim concerning the lack of an independent reweighing of aggravators and mitigators and claim that Florida law unconstitutionally creates a presumption of death).

Turner's argument that Florida's death penalty statute creates a presumption of death in violation of *Furman v*. *Georgia*, 408 U.S. 238 (1972), is procedurally barred. *Troy*, *supra; Evans, supra*. moreover, this claim was rejected in *Wade v. State*, 41 So. 3d 857, 872 (Fla. 2010). The jury instruction on the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating circumstance has been upheld against a challenge of vagueness. *See Hunter v. State*, 660 So. 2d 244, 253 (Fla. 1995).

With respect to Claims 7, 9, and 10 on page 81 of Turner's brief, his characterization of the circuit court's denial on ripeness grounds is not entirely accurate. The unanimous-jury-recommendation issue is procedurally barred because Turner raised a *Ring* claim on direct appeal. *Turner v. State*, 37 So. 3d 212, 229 (Fla. 2010). Every variation of a *Ring* claim could have

been raised at that time. Further, this Court has consistently rejected the unanimous-jury-recommendation issue. *McWatters v. State*, 36 So. 3d 613, 644 (Fla. 2010); *Frances v. State*, 970 So. 2d 806, 822 (Fla. 2007) (rejecting argument that Florida's capital sentencing scheme is unconstitutional because it does not require a unanimous jury recommendation).

Claim 9, concerning the "identity of the executioner," is both meritless and untimely, as the circuit court found. (V5, R670). See Troy v. State, 57 So. 3d 828, 841 (Fla. 2011); Darling v. State, 45 So. 3d 444, 448 (Fla. 2010); Henyard v. State, 992 So. d 120, 130 (Fla. 2008). In addition, this claim is procedurally barred for failure to raise the issue on direct appeal.

Claim 10, which alleges "incompetency at the time of execution," is untimely, as Turner conceded in his postconviction motion (V2, R229), and as the circuit court found. (V5, R670). See Nelson v. State, 43 So. 3d 20, 34 (Fla. 2010); State v. Coney, 845 So. 2d 120, 137 n. 19 (Fla. 2003) (rejecting a claim that defendant was incompetent to be executed where he acknowledged that the claim was not yet ripe and was being raised only for preservation purposes).

With respect to Claim 8, which is a "cumulative error" claim, it is true that the circuit court did not explicitly rule on that claim. However, it is also true that the circuit court

rejected each claim individually, and found that there was no error of any sort. Because there is no error in the first place, there can be no "error" to "cumulate." *Hoskins v. State*, 75 So. 3d 250, 258 (Fla. 2011); *Schoenwetter v. State*, 46 So. 3d 535, 553, 562 (Fla. 2010). There is no basis for relief.

### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing discussions, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court to affirm the denial of postconviction relief.